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CHURCH
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XX private 
n public-local 
D public-State 
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D district 
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D object
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Contributing 
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structures

objects

1 total

Number of contributing resources previously listed
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Materials
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LATE VICTORIAN: ROMANESQUE FOUNDATION: STONE: LIMESTONE

WALLS: STONE: LIMESTONE, BRICK

ROOF: WOOD: ASPHALT

Modern Movement ______
Narrative Description
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£3 C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics 
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses 
high artistic values, or represents a significant and 
distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction.

n D Property has yielded, or likely to yield, 
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in ail the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

El A owned by a religious institution or used for 
religious purposes.
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Campbell Chapel A. M. E. Church (c. 1878) is located at 715 Atchison Street in Atchison, Kansas. The church sits 
on a bluff overlooking the downtown business district and faces south. The one-story, red brick, gable roofed 
structure stands on an above-grade limestone foundation.

The church is an example of the Romanesque Revival style. This is a style that was used frequently for churches 
between 1840 and 1900. While the Campbell Chapel exhibits a straightforward and simple interpretation of the 
style, the building is clearly drawn from the Romanesque Revival tradition. The building takes the basic design 
component of the center gable and flanks the sides with pinnacles, a key feature of the Romanesque Revival. The 
building' s semi-circular arches for the window and door openings are also a key feature of the style. While the use 
of corbeling and compound arches is retained, the building also incorporates these key design features of the 
Romanesque Revival style.

The church was stuccoed and painted white in 1919. A limestone staircase was added the building ' s facade in the 
1950s. The lower portion of the large round arch window in the gable' s facade was converted into an entry at this 
time. The basement windows and entry were obscured by the limestone, a new basement entry was created at the 
base of the new staircase. Many of the original 6/6 double hung, fanlight transomed windows were replaced in the 
1940s with stained glass windows from another church. The original fanlight transoms were retained for the facade 
windows. The form of the window openings were not modified to accommodate the stained glass windows.

The facade of the building is marked a large arched doorway and apedimented surround. The arched transom above 
the doorway is composed of two conjoined, transomed arched windows surmounted by a centrally placed oculus. 
The arch itself is outlined with oversized voussoirs that project from the building's surface. The pedimented 
surround has a wide projection from the building's plane, accentuating both the triangular shape of the pediment 
and the repetition of the triangular shape in the corbeled gable that rises above it.

Two round arched 1/1 double hung, stained glass windows flank the center doorway. As mentioned earlier, these 
windows retain their 1878 fanlight transoms but the stained glass windows were installed in the 1940s. These 
windows are accentuated with projecting, double round arch surrounds. The surrounds project from the building' s 
plane and are accentuated by a keystone at each arch's crest and imposts at the base of each arch.

The gable facade is outlined by tall corner pinnacles and a corbeled cornice. Both elements maintain several planes 
and project from the face of the building. The pinnacles have a symbolic cross emblem that projects from the 
roofline of the facade and side elevations of the feature.

The east and west elevations on the main level are fenestrated with round arch stained glass windows. Each window 
bay is slightly recessed and outlined with an unadorned pilaster. A water table delineates the above grade 
foundation from the floor above. This section of the building is fenestrated with segmentally arched, 1/1 double 
hung, clear glass windows.
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Both the sanctuary and the fellowship hall downstairs are rectangular in shape. Inside the first floor entrance there 
were two identical parallel stairways on each side that led directly into the sanctuary. The ceiling of the sanctuary 
featured a round arch in the center which ran from end to end. It was papered or painted with a square design. Two 
huge chandeliers with one tier of six lights topped by another tier of four lights hung over the center aisle. Wooden 
pews ran the length of the aisle on either side. On the left side, at the front, three rows of pews ran perpendicular 
to the other rows. Two additional smaller chandelier-like lights adorned either side of the pulpit.

Beginning in the early 1950s, several interior and exterior renovations were made. In 1951, the ceiling in the 
sanctuary was lowered and a new sub-floor was laid. A new pulpit and choir stand was completed in 1954.

Originally the main congregational entrance to the church was located on the lower or basement level and, because 
of the narrow steep stairwells, was virtually inaccessible to persons with disabilities. Great difficulty was also 
endured when a funeral necessitated maneuvering a casket up these confining stairwells. Therefore a new 
handicapped- accessible entrance was constructed.

The new, second-level double doors in the front were incorporated where the center stained-glass windows were 
originally. There are sidelights to the left and right of these doors. Additionally, a limestone front was added to 
the facade with a cement exterior stairway. A black-painted iron railing runs along the stairs and the edge of the 
upper platform. In order to assure equal accessibility and to accommodate a maturing church population, a rear 
entrance with off-the-street parking was also designed and constructed.

Without disturbing the integrity of the sanctuary and the pulpit, it was deemed necessary to remove and fill in a 
window on the northwest rear corner in order to create this entrance. To facilitate this project, a large concrete 
retaining wall was built on the northwest side of the church and a smaller retaining wall was built on the northeast 
side of the church. The north area at the rear was filled with dirt, leveled and reinforced by these retaining walls, 
making it possible for the congregation to walk directly into the sanctuary. The parking area off the alley was 
covered with gravel. This work was completed in 1954. Members of the building committee were: Doris Smith; 
Arthur Bratton; Kathleen McNeal, and Elsworth Bolderidge.

New carpet and pews were added to the sanctuary in the late 1990s. The pews provide seating capacity for about 
200 worshipers. The sanctuary walls and wainscoting are painted white. There are two small rooms on either side 
of the pulpit. To the left is the rear vestibule and to the right is a preparatory room for services. The choir loft above 
the rear of the sanctuary remains closed off; there are now old pews placed in the rear of the pulpit for the choir. 
There is some moisture damage to some of the interior plaster walls and ceiling tiles. A new heating and cooling 
system was installed in 2001.

The painted walls of the fellowship hall on the lower level are lined with windows. The floor is concrete and 
painted gray. Bathroom facilities and the kitchen in the fellowship hall have been updated.
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Prior to the 1950s, a parsonage was located on the west side of the church. A new parsonage was built on the east 
side. It is currently occupied by the pastor of Campbell Chapel and his family. The parsonage is not included as 
part of this nomination.
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Campbell Chapel A. M. E. Church (c. 1878) is being nominated to the National Register under criterion A for its 
historical association with the growth and development of the African-American (black) community in Atchison, 
Kansas, and under criterion C for its architectural significance as an example of a Romanesque Revival style church.

Organized during the post-Civil War period of dramatic political and economic change for blacks in this community, 
it was the first black church to be established in Atchison. It became a symbol of support and independence to 
newly emancipated black citizens earnest in their efforts to grow and prosper in their community. In this church, 
a small black congregation learned to work together as an autonomous element of society and meet the challenges 
of alienation, poverty, and racism. Campbell Chapel A.M.E. Church serves its congregation in the same capacity 
today; as a gathering place for worship and socialization.

From slavery to the present, the black churches served as community builders and service providers for blacks. The 
churches functioned not only as sites of worship services, but also as public meeting halls and community centers 
for a wide range of social activities. As such, they were an important lifeline. After the Civil War, they helped 
fleeing blacks secure housing and employment and took up the task of formally educating the newly freed slaves. 
In fact, many church halls became makeshift classrooms.

Almost all black churches had to serve a multiplicity of purposes in their early days in response to the hostile 
conditions of black life. So they not only provided a wide variety of services for the needy, but spiritual, moral and 
political leadership as well. In doing so, African Americans Ainvested much time and many resources in building 
up their religious institutions. Black Methodists took the lead in creating totally independent black denominations. 
The first major black church was the African Methodist Episcopal Church. These independent black churches were 
largely limited to free states, like Kansas.

By 1870, there were 1,136 blacks in Atchison, working as unskilled laborers, on the railroad, and as domestics. 
Black farmers bought land from the government for $1.25 per acre on the installment plan. At first, they lived in 
shanties, dugouts, and tents, usually near the railroads or near the river. Few whites welcomed them. In 1878, an 
Atchison newspaper reported there were forty blacks camped for the winter in shanties on the edge of the town. 
Frustrated with the burden of their poverty, the Atchison City Council finally passed an ordinance forbidding the 
landing of paupers at its river front docks. However, some Atchison residents continued to give them provisions, 
and in time, jobs.

The largest migration of blacks to Kansas was in 1878-79. Due to increasing economic and political oppression, 
thousands of poor blacks were motivated to leave the South. They were too poor to buy food or pay rent, and once 
they arrived in Kansas, they depended on local communities and Kansas Freedman' s Relief Association for support. 
Some towns in Kansas became overwhelmed when hundreds of new immigrants arrived. Some were sick, unwashed 
and poverty-stricken, and these villages would impose measures to discourage them from staying. Some even
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refused to let boats and trains unload. So they moved on; first to Leavenworth, and then to Atchison.

As blacks worked to own homes and develop a sense of community, one street in Atchison became the dividing line 
of prejudice to keep blacks from joining the town' s white society. This street was called Division Street even prior 
to the Civil War and remains so today. Blacks were to inhabit the northern part of the city; north of Division Street, 
where dirt roads and outdoor toilets remained long after the rest of Atchison was modernized.

A search of Atchison newspapers of the late 1800s indicates the African Methodist Episcopal Church was the first 
black church to be organized in this town. No black churches were noted to be in existence in the 1859-60 City 
Directory. In 1865, "colored" church services were announced at the corner of Third and Main Streets, the 
makeshift location of this new congregation above the Lane Livery Stable there. This congregation later bought 
land and built a frame church on a block near Seventh and Atchison in 1866. In 1873, the only "colored" church 
listed in the Atchison City Directory was the A.M.E. church.

Second Christian Church was founded in 1874. That group of worshipers purchased an old school building in 1879 
to conduct their services. The Ebenezar Baptist Church was noted in Atchison City Directories in 1875, but it was 
not clear the congregation had a church building until 1877 when the Directory reported services were held in a 
frame building that later burned down in 1911. The Blade reported in 1878 a new Baptist church was to be built in 
North Atchison, but the location and the date to begin building had not been determined. Shiloh Baptist Church 
was organized in 1883 in an old brewery on Laramie Street and did not have its own church structure at that time.

A small congregation of the African Methodist Church was organized by Rev. John Netherson and J.K. Fisher in 
1865, the year the Emancipation Proclamation was signed. The Atchison City Directory reported that "with 
commendable zeal," they had obtained space over the Lane Livery Stable on Third and Main and used this space 
for both church and school. This was the first colored school in Atchison as well.

A year later, nine church trustees purchased a lot from John M. and Eliza J. Price for $250. The trustees who 
represented Campbell Chapel in this transaction on April 30,1866 were: Nicholas Johnson, Gibby Burrell, Adam 
Walker, Nelson Hunt, Rev. Jesse Mills, William McKee, Alfred Barker, Caleb Paris and Fuller Carter. These men 
were all laborers except for a minister and a whip maker. Some had migrated to Kansas from Virginia and 
Kentucky.

They built their first church, a frame structure, on this lot at 715 Atchison Street that same year. It was anticipated 
at the time of the fund-raising this edifice would cost $1400. Appeals went out to the public for funding assistance 
and construction was completed in 1866. This church burned to the ground on May 16, 1878. A Sunday School 
Convention of the Kansas Conference of the A.M.E. Church had just met there the day before. The fire companies
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responded immediately, but there was a scarcity of water and the structure was lost. The church had been insured 
by American Central Insurance for $1100.

The congregation immediately set out to build another church and the first services were held in this present 
structure on Sunday, November 3,1878. The Daily Champion referred to Campbell Chapel as "one of the neatest 
brick churches in the city." There were two services held on Sundays and a prayer meeting was held on Wednesday 
evening of each week.

Campbell Chapel was named after A.M.E. Bishop Jabez P. Campbell who was the presiding bishop at the time. 
The eighth bishop of the A.M.E. Church, Bishop Campbell worked to bring the new church's message to Africa 
and the West Indies in the 1870s. He served for twenty-seven years. The church was chartered as Campbell Chapel 
on October 31,1878 with the purpose of public worship and the support of charitable, benevolence, educational and 
missionary undertakings. The five trustees were Jacob W. Starr, J. Rucker, Robert Hyston, George Ranson and 
Jesse Mills. They reported the value of the church to be $5000.

In order to pay down the mortgage indebtedness, special events were held at the church. On May 29,1892 the goal 
was to raise one hundred dollars for that purpose as two Missouri minister was invited to preach at two Sunday 
services. Fund-raisers were held over the years to cover the cost of repairs. Pledges and offering envelopes were 
also used to fund church repairs and maintenance. When the pastor wanted a parsonage erected, church members 
solicited contributions with $5 coupon books.

A pep committee was appointed to arouse interest and enthusiasm in church work and stewards and trustees were 
challenged to be more attentive to the Board Meetings, to visit all members, and to consecrate themselves to greater 
and more effective work. By 1884, membership had grown to 325 congregants and Sunday school attendance 
totaled 100 members. Campbell Chapel thrived with revival meetings and lectures on divorce by guest speakers.

Choirs of the black churches in Atchison joined together to perform musical programs. Most of these events were 
shared with Ebenezar Baptist Church, the only other black church in the city for several years. Proceeds from a two- 
night musical event by Campbell Chapel and Ebenezar Baptist Church totaled $42. Campbell Chapel even had an 
eight-piece orchestra in the late 1800s.

Sunday school classes memorized and recited Bible verses by the hundreds. Ten-cent masquerades, basket dinners 
and cakewalks added opportunities for socialization. Young people conducted prayer meetings and there were 
sewing circles. An aid society and women' s circles were ongoing charitable organizations supported by Campbell 
Chapel.
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Late nineteenth century prominent church members included: Donald L. Stewart, physician; Leon Henderson, 
pharmacist; Lloyd Kerford, quarry owner and operator; J. T. Miles, mortician and owner of a funeral home; and 
Carrie Kerford, teacher, grocery store owner and newspaper correspondent.

Today, Campbell Chapel continues to take its place as a prominent part of the lives of black families in Atchison. 
Many of the same worship and social activities still occur presently. Black churches in Atchison seek opportunities 
to worship together and share various musical and charitable events.

The church is an example of the Romanesque Revival style. This is a style that was used frequently for churches 
between 1840 and 1900. While the Campbell Chapel exhibits a straightforward and simple interpretation of the 
style, the building is clearly drawn from the Romanesque Revival tradition. The building takes the basic design 
component of the center gable and flanks the sides with pinnacles, a key feature of the Romanesque Revival. The 
building ' s semi-circular arches for the window and door openings are also a key feature of the style. While the use 
of corbeling and compound arches is retrained, the building also incorporates these key design features of the 
Romanesque Revival style.

The Romanesque Revival style has its roots in medieval ecclesiastical architecture. In America, large scale public 
buildings and religious institutions were constructed in the revival style. While not as frequently used for 
ecclesiastical architecture as the Gothic Revival style, the Romanesque Revival is part of the nineteenth Picturesque 
movement. Marcus Whiffen writes that "many American architects were happy to find that Romanesque was free 
from the peculiar difficulty of Gothic which had led the English architect John Nash to exclaim, I hate this Gothic 
style; one window costs more trouble that two houses ought to." (Whiffen, pp. 61- 63)

In its medieval form the Romanesque style based itself in Roman Classical architecture, stretching the verticality 
of the classical forms. The major characteristics of the style are round-headed arches and simple geometrical 
classical forms, and thinly attenuated shapes the reach into the sky.

American architects Richard Upjohn, James Renwick, Henry Austin and Leopold Eidlitz all worked in the 
Romanesque Revival style. Their designs often included round-headed openings, tall towers and arcaded corbel 
tables. The most familiar Romanesque Revival building in this country is James Renwick' s Smithsonian Institution 
(c. 1848-1849), which is prominently located on the Mall in Washington, DC. In the Smithsonian example, the style 
is applied in a picturesque manner with asymmetrically arranged masses and towers.

The selection of the Romanesque Revival style by the Campbell Chapel A. M. E. Church congregation for its new 
church seems very natural. The style had been used in this country since the 1840s for many prominent religious 
structures. Since many of the congregants were emigrants from the south, it is likely that the idea of what a church 
should like was influenced by the parish church architecture and urban ecclesiastical architecture of the south.
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Over the years the buildings has been modified, its brick walls and limestone foundation were stuccoed in 1919 and 
a limestone basement vestibule was constructed in the 1950s. However, the distilled sense of the Romanesque 
Revival style remains intact and clearly visible.
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The nominated property stands on a portion of the land historically associated with the church.
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SUPPLEMENTARY LISTING RECORD

NRIS Reference Number: 02001701

Property Name: Campbell Chapel AME Church

County: Atchison State: Kansas

Multiple Name

This property is listed in the National Register of Historic Places in accordance with the attached 
nomination documentation subject to the following exceptions, exclusions, or amendments, notwithstanding 
the National Park Service certification included in the nomination documentation.

January 17, 2003
Signature of the Keeper ' Date of Action

Amended Items in Nomination: 

Sections 8

The Area of Significance for Ethnic Heritage is, hereby, amended to add the subcategory "Black" to 
correspond with the church's African American associations.

The Kansas State Historic Preservation Office was notified of this amendment.

DISTRIBUTION:
National Register property file
Nominating Authority (without nomination attachment)


